FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
9/30/2021 8:00 AM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
9/30/2021 8:00 AM

No. 100260-2
NO. 1002002

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 81420-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

CHRISTY DIEMOND Petitioner/Plaintiff

v.

KING COUNTY, Respondent/Defendant.

APPELLANT CHRISTY DIEMOND'S PETITION FOR REVIEW BY THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

Michele Earl-Hubbard, WSBA No. 26454 ALLIED LAW GROUP, LLC P.O. Box 33744 Seattle, WA 98133 Phone (206) 443-0200 Fax (206) 428-7169 michele@alliedlawgroup.com Attorneys for Petitioner Christy Diemond

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR AND ISSUES PRESENTED

A. Assignments of Error

- 1. The trial court erred in ignoring Diemond's Notice of Unavailability for 10/19/18, and holding a dispositive motion hearing on a date the Court knew the Plaintiff was unavailable.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying Diemond's Motion to Continue the Defendant's summary judgment motion for three months to January 2019 to allow Diemond, who was recently involuntarily *pro se* due to the withdrawal of her attorney for medical reasons, to obtain new counsel to respond.
- The trial court erred in granting King County's Motion for Summary Judgment.
- 4. The trial court erred in failing to promptly provide

 Diemond notice of the orders signed 10/19/18, mailing them to her 17

 days after their signing, and in failing to even list them on the docket or

 make them publicly available for 12 days after signature.
- 5. The trial court erred in (a) denying Diemond's Motion for Reconsideration of the order granting King County summary judgment and the order denying Diemond's motion to continue, (b) refusing to hear the reconsideration motion when it was originally noted before her, and

proof of its confirmation was provided, and (c) delaying a decision on the motion for reconsideration for nearly three months after its filing.

- 6. The trial court erred in denying Diemond's CR 60 Motion to vacate and for assignment of non-conflicted judge, and in delaying hearing, held without oral argument despite Diemond's request, and a decision on such motion for more than a month after its filing.
- 7. The Presiding Judge erred in refusing to hear Diemond's CR 60 Motion and motion to assign non-conflicted judge when it was noted before him revealing that Judge Dingledy had been convicted by King County of a crime and was on probation under the supervision and control of King County at the time she was being asked to rule in favor of King County in this case.
- 8. Judge Dingledy erred in not disclosing her connection with King County and in not recusing herself from hearing this case.
- 9. The Presiding Judge erred in allowing Judge Dingledy to be assigned to hear motions in this case when the Court was aware of Judge Dingledy's conviction and current probation with King County as a convicted person.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

Whether the Supreme Court should reverse and vacate the
 Orders entered in this case in favor of King County and against Plaintiff by

Judge Mary Elizabeth Dingledy when (a) King County failed to properly notify Diemond of the filing and service of the summary judgment motion and led Diemond to believe the motion would only be filed if settlement efforts still underway were unsuccessful, (b) Judge Dingledy ignored a promptly filed Notice of Unavailability and denied a Motion for a Continuance asking for a brief continuance to secure counsel once Diemond discovered a summary judgment had been noted and filed, and (c) Judge Dingledy who signed the Orders in question was prosecuted by King County for a DUI in late 2017 and is currently in her second year of a three-year probation under King County with 364 days of her 365 jail sentence suspended pending completion of her three-year probationary term and neither King County nor Judge Dingledy disclosed the Judge's connection or this conflict of interest prior to or after the Judge ruled on the motions?

2. Whether the Supreme Court should Order assignment by the Presiding Judge of a judge other than Judge Dingledy to hear any future motions in this case, including any re-note of King County's Motion for Summary Judgment?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a Public Record Act ("PRA") case stemming from King County's continued failure to provide Appellant Christy Diemond with

responsive records including specifically <u>Brady</u>¹ material of King County agents involved in an alleged animal abuse prosecution of Diemond in 2012 and sentencing in 2013, a conviction that remains on appeal.² In early 2015, Diemond learned that two specific King County employees—Robin Cleary and Jenee Westberg—both of whose testimony was crucial to the prosecution at her criminal trial—had been fired for dishonesty, turpitude and misconduct, including specifically events documented in <u>Brady</u> materials. **CP 167-168 at ¶7**. In February 2015 Diemond made a PRA request to King County for these two employees' personnel files and any

¹ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963).

² Diemond agreed to give her two elderly horses Brandy, age 39 and Bud age 35, to Regional Animal Services of King County ("RASKC") King County Animal Control to find them a new home when her dying 92-year-old-mother needed her full time attention and resources. See CP 166-167 at ¶2. RASKC contracted Save a Forgotten Equine ("SAFE"), an alleged horse rescue operation with whom RASKC then conspired to prosecute Diemond for alleged animal cruelty. SAFE systematically starved Brandy and Bud over the first three months they had them and then RASKC employee Jenee Westberg and King County Sheriff Detective Renee Cleary took pictures of the horses alleging the pictures had been taken when Diemond still cared for them. Id. Brandy and Bud were in mid-shed in the picture, something that only occurs in mid-May and not in the dead of winter of February when SAFE, Westberg and Cleary alleged the pictures had been taken, and the metadata of the digital images showed the camera temperature when the pictures were taken was 61 degrees, rather than the below freezing temperatures of the alleged photo date. Id. Ten months after SAFE took custody of Brandy and Bud, and mere weeks after SAFE was notified that Diemond had retained an equine veterinarian to examine the horses as part of her criminal defense, and before such veterinarian could examine the horses, SAFE shot Brandy in the head claiming she had colic, a condition that is treatable, and not typically treated with summary execution. CP 168 at ¶4. Six months later, sixteen months after taking the horses, SAFE shot Bud. in the head, also before he was examined by Diemond's veterinarian, this time alleging Bud had a penile infection. Id. Diemond was prosecuted and convicted based on perjured testimony of Cleary and Westberg and was sentenced to a suspended sentence of 365 days with one day in jail. Diemond was denied access to the metadata of the photographs during her trial, and crucial impeachment evidence and Brady material King County withheld from her that forms the basis of this PRA case. Diemond's conviction remains on appeal as Ms. Diemond continues to fight to clear her name. CP 168 at ¶5.

Brady materials that may exist and related misconduct investigations and records (CP 168-170 at ¶¶7-12) focusing her requests on these two employees because Diemond knew their trial testimony was perjured. CP 169 at ¶8. King County silently withheld and failed to produce essential records that Diemond should have been provided at the time of her criminal prosecution and appeal, forcing Diemond to bring this PRA case. CP 170 at ¶¶15-25.

Diemond has discovered responsive records on her own that King County possessed and still has never disclosed. For example, Diemond has uncovered an email thread of King County Prosecuting Attorneys discussing whether they should disclose Cleary's **Brady** status or Cleary's **Brady** materials to Diemond in August to September 2014 while Diemond's criminal case was on appeal, **ultimately concluding that they need not, and would not disclose Cleary's** *Brady* **status or materials to Diemond although contrary to binding Ninth Circuit precedent. CP 171 at ¶19; CP 182-198.** It was not until March 2016 that King County revealed that Cleary had been listed as a **Brady** officer in 2014 while Diemond's case was on appeal. The list provided was heavily redacted hiding why Cleary was on the list. **CP 171 at ¶20; CP 200.**

Diemond has also learned on her own that Westberg was secretly made a **Brady** officer in 2012 right before Diemond's first continued

sentencing hearing, a fact hidden from Diemond during her criminal case and appeal, and such materials have still not been fully produced by King County to Diemond. **CP 171-173 at ¶¶19, 21-24; CP 202-526.** Diemond learned on her own that Westberg, while a King County animal control officer, was arrested and prosecuted by King County in 2008 for 19 counts after she was pulled over in her car and caught on illegal drugs and surrounded by a glass pipe and several full bottles of narcotic prescription pill bottles none of which were prescribed for her. **CP 172 at ¶21; CP 202-245.** Diemond also learned on her own that Westberg was arrested and prosecuted by Kent Municipal Court for shoplifting from a Kent Kmart in 2006-2007. **CP 172 at ¶21; CP 236-245.**

In March 2016, after being sued in this PRA case, King County produced a heavily redacted <u>Brady</u> list showing Westberg had been on the list since October 2012, but redacting the reason she was on the list. CP 172 at ¶22; CP 247. King County has still failed to produce records explaining why Westberg is on the <u>Brady</u> list. CP 172-173 at ¶23.

On 8/23/18 Diemond became *pro se* in this PRA lawsuit due to the withdrawal of her attorney for medical reasons. **CP 173 at ¶26; CP 530-531.** Diemond proceeded with a scheduled settlement conference with King County on 9/12/18, during which she provided King County with proof of numerous records that should have been disclosed to her that to this day

have not been produced. CP 173 at ¶27. Diemond and the County continued with settlement discussions for weeks afterward. **CP 174 at ¶28**. Unbeknownst to Diemond, while engaging in such ongoing settlement discussions King County went ahead with plans to note a summary judgment motion in the case that was to be filed only "if we don't settle this case" (CP 533), but failed to tell her or serve her by email as had been their agreement and practice, or provide the documents to her during their settlement conference or subsequent settlement emails. CP 174-175 at ¶¶29-32; CP 533-537. King County had stated it originally planned to note its motion for 10/12/18 if the case did not settle, then changed its mind selecting 10/18/18 instead. CP 533-537. Again, the communication to Diemond was that the hearing would be noted only "if we don't settle this case" (CP 533)-but as settlement discussions were continuing, Diemond was not aware, and was not told, that King County went ahead and noted such Motion. **CP 173 at ¶30**. King County emailed Diemond on 9/19/18, the day King County secretly noted and delivered the summary judgment motion to the UPS Mailbox Store as explained below, and yet failed to mention the filing, noting, or the delivery. CP 175 at ¶32. (Diemond had advised opposing counsel during their settlement discussions in September 2018 that if the matter did not settle that she would be securing counsel to represent her in connection with any summary judgment motion and would

need a few months to secure such counsel and for such counsel to become prepared. CP 175-176 at ¶34.)

When Diemond became *pro se* in August 2018 and filed an appearance, she explained to opposing counsel that the address listed on her Notice of Appearance was a UPS Mailbox Store that was not her registered agent and could not accept service on her behalf, but she agreed to accept service by email and secured an agreement with opposing counsel that they would email her copies of anything they needed to serve on her rather than just dropping it off at the UPS Mailbox Store counter. **CP 174-175 at ¶31**.

On 9/19/18, while engaging in settlement discussions with Diemond by email, opposing counsel—with no mention to Diemond—sent a messenger to the UPS Mailbox Store who dropped off an unlabeled stack of documents without an envelope or note. **CP 175 at ¶32**. It was several hundred pages of declarations and briefing including a Note for Hearing for a summary judgment motion noted for 10/19/18. **Id.** Opposing counsel did not mention this service, or the filing or noting, to Diemond in their continuing settlement discussions and emails nor alert her to the drop off of documents at the UPS Mailbox Store counter, nor email her copies. **CP 174-175 at ¶¶30, 32**. The UPS Mailbox Store eventually figured out the delivery was for Diemond, one of its mailbox customers, and placed the materials in her mailbox at the Store. **CP 175 at ¶32**. Diemond did not

learn of the filing or this delivery until 10/1/18, 11 days later, when she found the records in her mailbox at the UPS Mailbox Store, and she hastily began searching for new counsel and on her own wrote, filed and served on 10/12/18 a Notice of Unavailability and a Motion to Continue the motion to January 2019 so she could secure counsel to represent her. CP 175 at ¶33; CP 56-65, 707-715. Diemond filed the documents on 10/12/18, as the file stamp on the original shows—see CP 56-65, 707—but the Superior Court Clerk listed the file date of the Motion to Continue on the docket as 10/15/18. See Docket and Index to Clerks Papers, Vol. 4 (dkt. 50). Diemond in the Motion to Continue and included Declaration also explained as best she could in the short period of time that the County had not, in fact, produced <u>Brady</u> materials still owed to her illustrating why summary judgment for the County was inappropriate. CP 56-65, 707-715.

By selecting 10/19/18, King County was explicitly and knowingly selecting Judge Mary Elizabeth Dingledy to hear its motion. Snohomish Superior Court hears such motions on its civil motions calendar, and assigns each of its judges to that calendar on specified days of the year. A link to such calendar is listed on the Note for Motion.³

3

³ See, e.g.,

https://www.snohomishcountywa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/60234/Criminal-HearingsMotions-and-Civil-Motions-Schedule-2019-PDF- and https://www.snohomishcountywa.gov/DocumentCenter/View/16316/Judges-weekly-calendar-assignments-and-courtroom-locations-PDF (last visited 7/7/19).

In this case the Judge assigned to hear the motion is key as the movant was King County, and its lawyers were two current and long-time King County Prosecuting Attorneys, and the Judge these Prosecutors selected to note their motion before was charged, and convicted by the King County Prosecuting Attorney's Office of Driving Under the Influence ("DUI") in late 2017 with a suspended sentence of 364 additional days in jail pending a three-year probation, and this Judge remains in her second vear of that three-year probation under the control of King County—the party whose motion she was being asked to decide. CP 53 at ¶¶14-15; CP 125-165.

Opposing counsel did not inform Diemond of these facts, nor did Judge Dingledy disclose them or recuse herself from hearing the Motion. Instead, opposing counsel and the Superior Court claim that Judge Dingledy took the bench at 9:30 a.m. on 10/19/18, held a summary judgment hearing in this matter without Diemond's presence, signed the orders granting the motion for summary judgment and denying the motion for a continuance, and that such orders were delivered to the Court Clerk's Office and stamped as filed just 16 minutes after the hearing allegedly started. See **CP 67-71**. The Superior Court claims that no recording was made of that hearing but alleges that King County Prosecuting Attorney Mari Isaacson appeared in person for King County at the hearing. See **Court Docket** and **CP 73**. The

Dingledy's legal middle name is Elizabeth and thus her legal initials would be "MED", and she signed her criminal case records with simply "MD" as her initials. Compare CP 67-71 and CP 123 with CP 153-160. Judge Dingledy made no findings in either Order and failed to mention having reviewed Diemond's Notice of Unavailability or her other filings. CP 32-35.

The 10/19/18 Orders were not emailed to Diemond, or mentioned to Diemond, and instead were mailed to Diemond by the Superior Court to the UPS Mailbox Store 17 days later—as indicated by the envelope with a postage stamp date of 11/6/18. CP 177 at ¶37; CP 539. Diemond, having heard nothing on her motion for continuance of the summary judgment motion, checked the docket several times and finally saw the Orders on the docket on 11/1/18 (with an alleged file date of 10/19/18). CP 177 at ¶38. She downloaded a copy of the Orders that same day and drafted, filed and served a Motion for Reconsideration that same day 11/1/18. CP 51-53 at ¶¶6, 11; CP 75-90; CP 177-178 at ¶¶39-40. Her motion repeated her request from her motion for continuance that the summary judgment hearing be noted in January so she could retain new counsel and respond. CP 177 at ¶38.

Diemond timely confirmed the Motion for Reconsideration and received a confirmation receipt. **CP 178 at ¶43**; **CP 541-543**. On the note date, Diemond appeared for the hearing and was told by Superior Court Courtroom staff that the motion would not be heard as it allegedly had not been confirmed. **CP 178 at ¶42**. Diemond immediately showed Judge Dingledy the confirmation receipt as proof that the Motion HAD been timely confirmed. **Id.** at ¶42; **CP 541-543**. Judge Dingledy still refused to hear it that day. Judge Dingledy's clerk later instructed Diemond to re-note the hearing to 1/11/19 before Judge Dingledy on her personal calendar, which Diemond promptly did. **CP 178 at ¶42**; **CP 119-121**.

On 1/11/19 Judge Dingledy considered the matter without oral argument although Diemond was present during the motion calendar and wishing to be heard. **CP 178 at ¶42**. On 1/17/19 Judge Dingledy allegedly signed an Order denying the Motion for Reconsideration. **The Order was not given to the Superior Court Clerk for filing and entry until 1/22/19**, five days after it was allegedly signed. **CP 563**.

Diemond thereafter successfully retained new counsel to represent her in this matter. **CP 562**. On 2/21/19 her counsel filed a Notice of Appeal seeking direct review in the Washington State Supreme Court of the Order denying the Motion to Continue, the Order granting Summary

Judgment to King County, and the Order denying Diemond's Motion for Reconsideration. **CP 30-36.**

On 2/8/19 Diemond's new counsel discovered that Judge Dingledy had been charged and convicted of a DUI by King County in late 2017 and that Judge Dingledy remains to this day on probation under the control of King County. **CP 53 at ¶¶14-15**; **CP 125-165**. On 2/14/19, six days after discovering this new information, Diemond through her new counsel filed and served a CR 60 Motion to Vacate the Orders of Judge Dingledy and for assignment of a non-conflicted judge to hear the summary judgment motion when re-noted. **CP 10**, 51-165, 544-561. The CR 60 Motion and motion for assignment of non-conflicted judge were noted before the Presiding Judge Bruce I. Weiss as one of the issues in the motion was the conflict of the originally assigned judge. **CP 10 at ¶2**; **CP 47-49**. Diemond's counsel timely confirmed the Motion by telephone in the early morning of 2/19/19 and online at 6:17 am on 2/20/19. **CP 10 at ¶2**; **CP 10 at ¶2**; **CP 114**.

On 2/21/19, one day before the note date, at 9:41 am, the County's attorneys emailed the Court and Diemond's attorney claiming to be unavailable on the note date of 2/22/19 and expecting the Court and opposing counsel to honor that emailed notice indicating unavailability.

CP 11 at ¶3; CP 25-26. Diemond's attorney responded noting the irony

that the County's attorneys were asking her and the Court to honor their belated emailed alleged unavailability, the day before the hearing, for which they had not filed a Notice of Unavailability even though they had had the Motion since 2/14/19, when they did not honor Diemond's Notice of Unavailability filed 10/12/18 for the summary judgment motion the County had secretly noted and filed for hearing 10/19/18. **CP 25**.

On 2/20/19, two days before the note date of the CR 60 motion, Judge Weiss's law clerk contacted the parties indicating that Judge Weiss would not hear the Motion despite it including a motion for assignment of a non-conflicted judge, and instructing that it was to be noted before Judge Dingledy through her law clerk. **CP 11-12 at ¶ 3; CP 20-23.** Diemond's lawyer immediately contacted Judge Dingledy's Clerk, and after several email exchanges was advised that (a) Judge Dingledy would hear the matter but without oral argument, (b) the earliest date she would allow it to be noted was 3/5/19, and (c) that a re-note of the hearing should be filed for that date. **CP 11-12 at ¶3; CP 16-22.** A new Note for Motion was promptly filed and served, and the motion was confirmed as instructed with Judge Dingledy's clerk. **CP 11 at ¶3; CP 7-9.**

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