FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/4/2021 1:50 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 100260-2

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COURT OF APPEALS DIV I, NO. 81420-6-I)

CHRISTY DIEMOND,

Appellant,

٧.

KING COUNTY,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT KING COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

MARI K. ISAACSON, WSBA#42945 SAMANTHA KANNER, WSBA#36943 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorneys Attorneys for Respondent

> Second & Seneca Tower 1191 2nd Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98101 (206) 477-1120

TABLES OF CONTENTS

I.	IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT1
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 1
III.	COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE 1

III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE

The court rules do not require a trial court to notify the parties when it enters an order. Here, Diemond was

warned about the summary judgment hearing in an email, the County served Diemond with notice of the summary judgment hearing and briefing at her address of record, and Diemond chose to neither attend the hearing nor submit any briefing beyond a motion to continue. The Court of Appeals found that Diemond's appeal of the orders relating to the summary judgment proceedings was untimely and that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying her CR 60 motion. Does this decision present any grounds for discretionary review by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. <u>Diemond made over 45 public records requests to two</u> separate County agencies.

Over three years, Diemond made over 25 PRA requests to the Executive. CP 843. She also made 21 public records requests to the Sheriff's Office between 2011 and 2018. CP 976. Diemond's PRA requests are

often broad and involve large numbers of responsive records. CP 783-86, 723-26, 792-93, 795-97, 819-20, 977, 988-96.

King County Code (KCC) section 2.12.005 defines the Executive Branch and the Sheriff's Office as separate agencies for the purposes of responding to public records requests. King County Code 2.12.005.A, 2.12.230.B; CP 970-75. A request to one agency does not constitute a request to any other agency. *Id*.

2. <u>Diemond sued the Sheriff's Office for alleged PRA</u> violations shortly after submitting her request, while the agency was still responding to her request, and when no final action had been taken on her request.

On February 17, 2015, Diemond submitted a broad public records request to the Sheriff's Office for the personnel file and all communications, including emails, relating to four employees. CP 977, 988-96.

The Sheriff's Office started by working on the employees' personnel files as this was a high priority for

Diemond. CP 977-78, 1000, 1059, 1076-77. Given the sensitive nature of the information contained in personnel files, reviewing each page and making redactions to exempt information required careful review. CP 977. The Sheriff's Office also ran an initial centralized email and voice mail search, locating around 67,000 emails that were potentially responsive. CP 979, 1010-12.

On April 8, 2015, the Sheriff's Office produced a first installment of records consisting of 615 pages and 11 audio files. CP 978,1000. The Sheriff's Office informed Diemond that the second installment of records would be available by May 30, 2015. *Id*.

On May 21, 2015, Diemond filed this lawsuit. CP 848, 943-49. On May 29, 2015, the Sheriff's Office produced a second installment that consisted of personnel-related records. CP 978, 1002-04. By March 2018, the Sheriff's Office had produced 23 installments to Diemond. CP 985, 1000-56.

From the fifth installment through the twenty-third installment, the Sheriff's Office made records available to Diemond via an online record retrieval system called GovQA. CP 985. As of March 2018, Diemond had not accessed records provided by the Sheriff's Office responsive to this request since December 2016. *Id.*

3. <u>Diemond sued the Executive for alleged PRA</u>
violations shortly after submitting her requests, while
the agency was still responding to her requests, and
when no final action had been taken on her requests.

On February 17, 2015, Diemond made a broad request for records to the Executive for the personnel file and all communications, including emails, relating to a former employee of the King County Executive Branch.

CP 843, 851-52.

Executive staff started producing this former employee's personnel file because that was Diemond's preference. CP 845. Responding to Diemond's PRA request took a substantial amount of time because

records had to be scanned, converted into a PDF file, and each page had to be reviewed for potential redactions and exemptions. CP 844-46. Staff also researched, gathered, and reviewed documents responsive to Diemond's other pending PRA requests. CP 845-46.

On March 12, 2015, Diemond submitted another broad PRA request to the Executive for the personnel file and all communications, including emails, relating to a former King County Sheriff's Office employee. CP 846, 926-30. The Executive had responsive records because they provide personnel-related services for all King County employees. CP 782-83.

The Executive provided the first installments of records responsive to these two requests on April 22, 2015. CP 846, 951. These installments included various personnel-related records. CP 846-48. Second installments of records for both requests were provided on May 8, 2015. CP 846-48, 952. The Executive notified

Diemond that the next installments of records for both requests would be provided to Diemond in two weeks.

CP 952.

After this lawsuit was filed, the Executive continued to provide Diemond with regular installments of records.

CP 723-81, 846-48, 951-69. The Executive provided Diemond with numerous installments of records over the next several years. *Id.*

4. Over three years after this lawsuit was filed and after extensive discovery, the County served its summary judgment motion on Diemond at the address she provided in her notice of appearance.

Despite having received records from the Sheriff's Office and the Executive, with promises of additional installments, Diemond initiated this lawsuit on May 21, 2015. CP 978, 848, 943-49.

After extensive discovery and nearly three years after the filing of this lawsuit, King County noted a motion for summary judgment for April 11, 2018. CP 615-16,

619-28, 630-39, 641-53. The County's motion was served on Diemond's prior counsel, Michael Kahrs. CP 616, 655-65. The County then struck its motion for summary judgment and it was not heard. CP 693.

In April 2018, Kahrs and counsel for the County signed an electronic service agreement for this case under CR 5(B)(7). CP 1181-83. Paragraph 6 of the agreement made clear that "[n]othing in this stipulation shall preclude a party from serving another party by traditional means as described in CR 5." CP 1183. The service agreement signed by Kahrs and the County was the only service agreement in this case. CP 1130.

On August 24, 2018, Diemond informed the County that her attorney had withdrawn and that she was representing herself. CP 616, 667-71. Diemond filed a Notice of Appearance, provided a mailing address, and requested that any further correspondence in this case be directed to her at that address. *Id*.

On September 7, 2018, the County notified
Diemond by email of its intention to re-note its summary
judgment motion for October 12.¹ CP 1130, 1191-92.
Three days later, on September 10, 2018, the County
emailed Diemond that it intended to re-note its summary
judgment motion for October 19 due to a scheduling
conflict. *Id.* The same day, Diemond replied "[t]hanks for
letting me know." *Id.*

King County met with Diemond on September 12, 2018, to discuss settling this case but the parties did not reach a resolution at that meeting. CP 1130.

On September 19, 2018, the County re-noted its summary judgment motion for October 19, 2018. CP 693. Also, on September 19, the motion was served on the address Diemond provided in her Notice of Appearance.

¹ In relevant part, the County's email to Diemond stated "We are hopeful we will settle this case; however, out of an abundance of caution we plan to re-note our motion for summary judgment to be heard on October 12th." CP 1192 (emphasis added).

CP 1130, 1198-1209. The County's motion was identical to the summary judgment motion that had been filed and served on her counsel months earlier. CP 1169-79, 1198-1209.

The County's summary judgment motion addressed the timelines of the County's response to Diemond's PRA requests under RCW 42.56.520 and RCW 42.56.550(2). CP 1101-04. It addressed the premature nature of Diemond's lawsuit under RCW 42.56.550(1) because neither the Sheriff's Office nor the Executive had taken any final action denying Diemond access to a record. CP 1099-1101. The County also argued that Diemond had abandoned her request to the Sheriff's Office under RCW 42.56.120(4). CP 1104.

5. Diemond filed no substantive response to the County's summary judgment motion. Instead, she asserted she was unavailable for any court proceedings from one week prior to the summary judgment hearing "to an undetermined time," and simultaneously stated she was unavailable for at least three months.

On October 12, 2018, Diemond filed a notice of unavailability and a motion for continuance of the summary judgment hearing scheduled for October 19. CP 707-15. Diemond asserted that she was "unavailable for any hearings, trials, motions, or any other required court appearance[s]" from October 12, 2018, "to an undetermined time." CP 714. With no compelling explanation, Diemond simultaneously stated that the earliest she could be available for a court hearing was January 25, 2019. CP 712. Diemond did not file any response to King County's summary judgment motion.

On October 19, 2018, Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Marybeth Dingledy denied Diemond's motion for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing and granted King County's unopposed motion for summary judgment. CP 610-13. Diemond did not appear at the hearing. CP 1358.

On November 2, 2018, Diemond filed an untimely "Request for Reconsideration RE: King County Summary Judgment." CP 594-95. King County opposed Diemond's request for reconsideration. CP 1356-60. On January 17, 2019, Judge Dingledy denied Diemond's request for reconsideration. CP 563.

6. <u>Diemond's CR 60 motion</u>, which argued that the trial court, the clerk's office, and opposing counsel had treated Diemond unfairly, was denied.

On February 14, 2019, Diemond filed a CR 60

Motion to Vacate, noting it before Snohomish County Civil

Presiding Judge Bruce Weiss for February 22, 2019, only

five court days later. CP 544. King County opposed the

motion because it raised many meritless, factually

inaccurate and legally deficient arguments. Judge Weiss

declined to hear the motion and directed Diemond to note

it before Judge Dingledy. CP 22-23. The motion was

reset before Judge Dingledy for March 5, 2019. CP 16-

- 17. On March 18, 2019, Judge Dingledy denied Diemond's motion to vacate. CP 1-2.
- 7. <u>Diemond's appeal was untimely except as to the order denying her CR 60 motion.</u>

On February 21, 2019, while her CR 60 motion was pending, Diemond filed a Notice of Appeal to the Washington State Supreme Court. CP 30-31. On March 8, 2019, Diemond filed a Statement of Grounds for Direct Review pursuant to RAP 4.2(a). On March 21, 2019, Diemond filed an amended notice of appeal to the Supreme Court. King County answered Diemond's Statement of Grounds on March 22, 2019.

On July 19, 2019, King County filed a motion to dismiss three of the issues in Diemond's appeal on procedural grounds. In September 2019, this case was transferred to the Court of Appeals, including a decision on King County's Motion to Dismiss. On May 26, 2020, the Court of Appeals denied the County's motion to

dismiss because Diemond's CR 60 appeal was timely but noted that the parties could address the scope of review in their briefing on the merits.

8. <u>Diemond's motion to supplement the record was</u> properly denied by the Court of Appeals and by a Commissioner of this Court.

On October 23, 2020 the Court of Appeals denied a motion to supplement the record brought by Diemond's counsel. Diemond sought to add documents not considered by the trial court and that had no bearing on the issues in this case. Diemond also failed to provide any cogent explanation for how the requirements of RAP 9.11 and ER 201 had been met.

On June 4, 2021 Commissioner Michael Johnston of this Court denied Diemond's motion for discretionary review of the Court of Appeals decision denying her motion to supplement the record.

9. Diemond's appeal was denied.

Diemond's appeal proceeded, and the Court of

Appeals affirmed in an unpublished decision on August 30, 2021. The Court found that Diemond's appeal of the orders denying her motion to continue the summary judgment hearing, granting the County's motion for summary judgment, and denying her motion to reconsider was untimely. See Diemond v. King County., No. 81420-6-I, 2021 WL 3910280 (Wn. App. 8/30/2021). The Court also determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion when it denied her CR 60 motion to vacate its order granting summary judgment because the record supported the trial court's decision. *Id*.

Diemond filed a Petition for Discretionary review with this Court on September 30, 2021.

V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

1. Standard for Discretionary Review

RAP 13.4 provides four bases for this Court to consider when determining whether to grant discretionary review of a Court of Appeals decision:

- If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court;
 or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Diemond asserts that the Court of Appeals' ruling in this case meets all the above criteria. See Petition, at 17-18. She provides no persuasive analysis supporting this claim. Diemond's petition should be rejected for the reasons set forth below.

2. There is No Conflict Between the Court Rules and a Litigant's Obligation to Pursue Her Own Case.

The Court of Appeals decision is consistent with existing case law and presents no significant question of constitutional law under RAP 13.4(b). Without any

persuasive authority, Diemond asserts the trial court should have proactively notified her of the outcome of the summary judgment hearing for which she chose not to appear.

To support this contention, Diemond relies on cases analyzing obsolete court rules and that are not applicable. Two of these cases involved outdated court rules that required service on a party before the appeal window began. See Coleman v. Dennis, 1 Wn.App. 299, 461 P.2d 552 (1969); State ex rel. L. L. Buchanan & Co. v. Washington Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 39 Wn.2d 706, 237 P.2d 1024 (1951).

Diemond reliance on a federal criminal case where a court rule required the trial court to mail its order to the petitioner or his attorney, which is completely different from the circumstances in this case, is also misplaced.

Rosenbloom v. United States, 355 U.S. 80, 78 S. Ct. 202, 2 L. Ed. 2d 110 (1957). She also argues that Wright v.

Washington State Dep't of Labor & Indus., 197 Wn.App. 1017 (2016) (unpublished), supports her position; however, there the Department of Labor & Industries conceded an inmate's administrative appeal was timely where delays were caused by the prison legal system. This case is inapplicable to the matter at hand.

Finally, Diemond incorrectly asserts that the Court of Appeals' decision here conflicts with this Court's ruling in *Denney v. City of Richland*, 195 Wn.2d 649, 462 P.3d 842 (2020). But the primary issue in *Denney* was whether a summary judgment order resolving all substantive legal claims is a "final judgment" that started the 30-day window to appeal, despite a later money judgment. *Id.* at 651-58. This Court found Denney's appeal was timely because of "excusable error" interpreting reasonably confusing court rules – CR 54 and RAP 5.2(a)(1). *Id.* at 658-60.

In contrast, there is no question that County's motion for summary judgment sought and obtained a final judgment of dismissal in this case and that Diemond was aware of that fact and chose to neither appear for the hearing nor respond to the motion. Further, she took no action to immediately determine the outcome of the hearing. None of the cases Diemond relies on involve similar facts or similar lack of diligence by the appealing party and thus do not conflict with the Court of Appeals' decision in this case.

Moreover, the denials of Diemond's motion to continue the summary judgment and motion for reconsideration do not involve issues of substantial public interest under RAP 13.4(b). These rulings were in keeping with established legal standards and compliance with court rules, involve facts particular to this case, and do not affect anyone other than Diemond.

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